SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ADAM BLAINE CHESTNUT,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent,

CASE NO. 70,628

FED SID J. WHITE

JUL 28 1987 C

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Deputy Clerk

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MICHAEL E. ALLEN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

PAULA S. SAUNDERS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 308846

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ADAM BLAINE CHESTNUT,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 70,628

STATE OF FLORIDA

Respondent,

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the defendant in the trial court and the appellant in the First District Court of Appeal. Respondent was the prosecution and the appellee respectively. The parties will be referred to as they appear before this Court.

The record on appeal consists of one volume of pleadings and three volumes of transcript of the proceedings below. The volumes are consecutively numbered at the bottom of each page and will be referred to as "R" followed by the appropriate page number in parenthesis.

The opinion of the court below is attached hereto as an appendix. The appendix will be referred to as "A".

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner and co-defendant, Jackie Joseph Bolesta, were indicted by the grand jurors of Alachua County for the first degree murder of Carl Brown on May 14, 1984 (R 15-16).

Due to a conflict of interest, the Public Defender moved to withdraw from its representation of petitioner, and attorney Salvatore Mollica was appointed to represent petitioner (R 7-9).

On August 13, 1984, petitioner entered a written plea of not guilty (R 14). Petitioner's motion for appointment of an expert to determine his competence to stand trial (R 17-18) was granted by written order on September 11, 1984 (R 19). On June 25, 1985, after numerous continuances for completion of discovery (R 21,22,23,24-26,31-33,42-44, 45-47,51-52,56), petitioner moved for costs for an updated psychiatric evaluation to assist in the preparation of the defense (R 54-55). On July 15, 1985, the court entered an order limiting the state's cross-examination of the defense expert as to the staleness of the psychological evidence (R 57).

Prior to trial the state filed a motion in limine to restrict the testimony of certain defense witnesses, particularly that of Dr. Harry Krop, a psychologist, as to petitioner's mental condition which did not qualify for an insanity defense under the M'Naughten Rule. The state also sought to preclude the testimony of other defense witnesses who were not witnesses to the alleged crime but who would testify as to co-defendant Joseph Bolesta's general reputation for violence and/or specific acts of violence and petitioner's fear of Bolesta (R 63-64).

In response to the state's motion in limine, petitioner moved the court to determine the admissibility of both the lay and expert testimony. The motion alleged that the lay testimony regarding Bolesta's aggressive and violent nature was relevant both as to the factual basis for the defense of duress and as it pertained to the credibility of the state's key witness, Gary German, an unindicted co-conspirator. Petitioner contended that the medical testimony regarding his low intelligence, permanent brain damage resulting from a rodeo accident ten years earlier, and diminished capacity was crucial to his theory of defense (R 85-88). In its order granting the state's motion in limine, the trial court ruled that duress is not a defense to homicide and absent a plea of insanity, expert testimony as to mental status would be improper (R 82-84).

Subsequently, on November 19, 1985, petitioner filed a written proffer of the excluded evidence (R 96-105). The proffer detailed the findings of Dr. Krop, as well as a neurologist, Dr. Edward Valenstein, who examined petitioner following the 1974 rodeo accident. The medical evidence revealed that upon being kicked in the head by a bull during rodeo competition, petitioner suffered a basilar fracture of the skull and traumatic contact to the brain, resulting in severe brain damage and personality changes. The character changes were manifested by a lack of motivation, propensity toward confusion, impulsive behavior, rapid memory loss, and a passive personality causing him to avoid physical confrontation, with the result that he is easily led and manipulated. The evidence was offered to show both the cause of

petitioner's behavioral responses and effect of his passivedependent and non-assertive personality with respect to his acting under the domination of Jackie Bolesta, and the absence of premeditation. The proffered testimony further showed that petitioner functions in a borderline range of intelligence, with impaired verbal memory, and suffers seizures which are only partially controlled by anti-convulsive medication (R 96-99).

In addition, petitioner proffered the testimony of three law enforcement officers who were familiar with Jack Bolesta's reputation for violence and truth and veracity. Carlos Yingst, a warrants officer with the Alachua County Sheriff's Office, knew Bolesta for several years and was familiar with his reputation in the community as being violent and manipulative. The witness was aware of "community knowledge" that Bolesta had killed his stepfather with a machete, that he drank heavily and was capable of anything from burning down a house to killing someone. Although Bolesta did not work, he always had a means of livelihood, and he would manipulate others, either by threats or promises, to do his "dirty work" (R 100-101). Ed Williams, a former highway patrolman, also had extensive knowledge of Bolesta's reputation for violence and lack of veracity, including knowledge that Bolesta murdered his step-father and committed arson in retribution for perceived wrongs committed against him. Williams expressed concern for his own safety from Bolesta (R 101). Deputy Sheriff Jerry Goad lived in the Hawthorne area for over 30 years and was acquainted with both petitioner and Jackie Bolesta. His proffered testimony included knowledge of petitioner's head injury

and susceptibility to manipulation, as well as Bolesta's violent nature and propensity to manipulate others to do his nefarious deeds. Although Goad was not involved in the criminal investigation, he opined that Bolesta was the ring leader who manipulated both petitioner and Gary German (R 101-102).

Finally, the defense proffered the testimony of 16 lay witnesses, including petitioner's family, friends and former employers, and the ex-wife of Jack Bolesta, all of whom were aware of petitioner's non-violent personality and Bolesta's particularly violent nature (R 102-105). Bolesta's former wife, Dell Pearson, observed Bolesta's influence over petitioner and Gary German and stated that both men were afraid to act indepen-Ms. Pearson would have testified that while she and Bolesta were living together, he preferred the company of people who were passive and easily manipulated, that he sought out weaker personalities to do his dirty work and did not tell them of his plans to keep them off quard. Petitioner urged that this testimony was relevant to establish the extent of influence Jack Bolesta exerted over him and German, which was consistent with petitioner's theory of defense and explained the inconsistencies in petitioner's and German's accounts of the murder (R 104-105).

Based on the court's previous ruling, none of the proffered testimony was admitted at trial.

Petitioner proceeded to jury trial on November 18-20, 1985. On the eve of the trial, the state stipulated not to seek the death penalty and the parties agreed to a six person jury (R 92).

Prior to the presentation of testimony, the state and defense stipulated to the identity of the deceased and further stipulated that the co-defendant, Jackie Bolesta, had been found guilty and sentenced for the first degree murder of Carl Brown. The court instructed the jury as to the effect of the parties' stipulation (R 174-175).

The first state witness was Nancy Neely, a deputy sheriff with the Lake County Sheriff's Department. On July 27 and August 6, Deputy Neely photographed the area of the Lochloosa Creek bridge. The photographs were admitted into evidence without objection. Also on July 27, Neely received a skull and other items of evidence which were recovered by divers in the creek. The skull was also admitted without objection (R 175-179).

Deputy Alfonso Rawls, Jr., an evidence technician with the Alachua County Sheriff's Department, photographed a wooded area in East Alachua County off State Road 325 in July, 1984. These photographs were admitted into evidence, as were two photographs each of Jackie Bolesta's vehicle and a house trailer. Other photographs taken by Rawls depicted State Road 301 where a creek runs underneath it. In that area Rawls recovered a machete and a set of keys. All the items were introduced without objection (R 179-184).

The keys recovered in the creek off State Road 301 belonged to Carl Brown's truck. Photographs of the truck were likewise admitted (R 187-188).

The state's primary witness was Gary German, who testified that he was with petitioner and Jackie Bolesta on May 14 when

they met Carl Brown. Prior to that day, Bolesta, petitioner and German rode to Starke, where they left Bolesta at a Jiffy store, while German and petitioner went to Brown's place of employment to tell him they had horses for sale. German testified that petitioner said he had horses, although he [German] did not know whether petitioner had any horses. They later saw Brown and his employer, Mr. Dowling, in the Hawthorne area (R 191-192).

Over petitioner's objections (R 192-196), German testified that Bolesta and petitioner discussed having to kill both Brown and Dowling. On May 14, the two discussed robbing Carl Brown. German, Bolesta and Chestnut were all in Jackie's truck that day when they met Brown on State Road 301 and told him about some horses for sale. Brown followed the trio in his truck to the Management Area at Lochloosa, then got in the back of Jackie's truck with petitioner. German sat up front while Bolesta was driving. They drove around but did not see any horses and eventually returned to Brown's truck. They all got out of the vehicle and were standing at the front of Bolesta's truck when petitioner got an ax handle out of the truck and "they told him [Carl Brown] to hand over the money" (R 197-201). Brown gave his wallet to petitioner and petitioner hit Brown in the forehead with the ax handle. Bolesta had a machete and Brown pleaded with German to help him, "but I couldn't do nothing" (R 201). German stayed at the truck when Bolesta and petitioner took Brown down the road. After Brown was dead, German and petitioner took the body in the woods; Bolesta used his machete to cut some trees and bushes and they covered the body. Bolesta then told petitioner

to drive Brown's truck to Ocala, where they left it at a motel. The three men then drove to Bolesta's trailer, stopping at a bridge on the way to dispose of the machete, ax handle and the victim's bloody T-shirt (R 201-202, 204-205).

On cross-examination, German testified that Jackie Bolesta was married to his sister and he had known Bolesta for a long time. In fact, German lived with Bolesta and bought and sold horses and horse equipment with him. The trip to Starke to talk to Brown about selling horses was Jackie's idea; Jackie drove to Starke and it was his idea to stop at the convenience store. German knew that petitioner had helped Bolesta sell some horses and knew that Carl Brown was a horse trader. He also knew that Brown was often at E.J. Dowling's horse ranch (R 207-211).

Bolesta did not tell his brother-in-law about every horse deal he had and for all German knew, when they went to Starke the week before the murder, Bolesta may have had horses to sell to Brown. When they went to look for the horses the gate to the property was locked. Brown and Dowling got in their truck and left; German, Chestnut and Bolesta left in the latter's truck, and no harm came to either Dowling or Brown that day (R 211-213).

German was familiar with Bolesta's truck and had borrowed it in the past. Bolesta kept a tool box in the bed of the truck and a fiber glass ax handle by the door next to the driver's seat. He kept the machete there also. On May 14, Bolesta, German and Chestnut were at a truck stop having coffee when they saw Brown's truck and horse trailer pass by. German did not know Brown would drive by at that time. He knew that Bolesta and

Brown had some horse dealings and Bolesta said he needed to stop Mr. Brown to talk about some horses. Jackie drove the truck and flagged down Brown. Brown had a horse in the trailer and was driving north on SR 301 toward Starke. After a conversation between Brown and Bolesta by the side of the road, Brown followed Jackie's truck up State Road 20 to Cross Creek Road. Jackie was driving, but German could not recall if petitioner was riding in Jackie's or Brown's truck, or if there was any discussion between petitioner and Bolesta regarding Carl Brown (R 213-219).

German further testified that it was Bolesta, and not petitioner, who told Brown to hand over his money (R 222, 224). When Brown pleaded for his life, Bolesta told him, "We're going to do it, we've got to do it. I'm going to kill you" (R 222). Petitioner did not say anything at all. German stated that even he was scared for his own safety (R 222-223). He saw Bolesta hit Brown in the back of the neck with the machete (R 225). German admitted that although he referred to "they" in his testimony, it was really Bolesta who planned to rob and kill Mr. Brown. German also testified that he was granted immunity by the state for testifying against petitioner (R 226-227).

On redirect examination, German confirmed that Bolesta took Mr. Brown's wallet; he never saw petitioner in possession of it. Neither German nor Brown were armed. German claimed that he saw petitioner strike the first blow and he saw Jackie hit Brown once (R 228-230).

Sue Sullivan lives on a dirt road off of State Road 325.

At approximately 6:00 or 6:30 p.m. on May 14, 1984, Ms. Sullivan

and her husband were driving home when they passed a white pick-up truck with two men in it. The truck was going very fast. It was followed by a blue truck pulling a horse trailer. Sullivan identified petitioner as the driver of the blue truck. She stated that in the 13 years she had lived in the area, she had only seen a horse loose one time (R 235-237).

Officer Chas Mayer investigated the truck and horse trailer found at the Ramada Inn in Ocala. He traced the vehicle tag to Carl Brown and wrote a missing person's report (R 239-240).

The medical examiner, Dr. William Hamilton, was summoned to a wooded area in Alachua County on July 25, 1984, to examine the remains of a body. The body was in an advanced state of decomposition and almost completely skeletonized. The mandible was there but the rest of the skull was recovered from another site (R 245). The skull revealed multiple injuries of both a blunt traumatic nature and deep incision wounds. An ovoid or pond fracture was evident on the front of the head. Dr. Hamilton concluded that the cause of death was due to blunt trauma and chop wounds to the head. Several of the wounds would have been sufficient to individually cause death, although the expert could not identify one particular wound as the cause of death. pond fracture at the front of the skull could have caused death, but would not necessarily have been fatal, he stated. Such blunt force to the head could prove fatal due to subsequent changes in the brain, such as swelling or hemorrhaging. The same would be true of the linear fractures at the back and base of the skull. Dr. Hamilton opined that the pond fracture would be consistent

with a blow by a fiber glass ax handle. A machete handle could also produce that type of injury. The other injuries to the head were consistent with Jackie Bolesta's machete (R 247-251).

After a proffer (R 260-269), Investigator Lentz testified that he took a statement from petitioner on August 2, 1984, at petitioner's request. Petitioner signed a waiver of rights form which was admitted into evidence without objection (R 271-276). The form indicated that petitioner was presently on medication. Lentz stated that he talked to Gary German on July 25, 1984, after which they located the body of Carl Brown, and recovered the machete and car keys (R 277, 283). The head was removed from the body, but Lentz ascertained that German and petitioner had nothing to do with the removal of the head (R 284).

Over objection, Lentz testified that petitioner admitted going to Starke with Jackie Bolesta a week before the homicide. He dropped Bolesta off at a Suwanee Swifty store and then went to Carl Brown's residence at Bolesta's direction. Petitioner stated that he and Bolesta discussed robbing Mr. Brown prior to May 14. On the day of the murder, petitioner and Brown were riding in the back of Bolesta's truck, and Bolesta and German were inside the vehicle. When the truck stopped, Brown got out and Bolesta struck him with a fiber glass-type rod. According to the statement, Bolesta asked Brown for his wallet; Brown gave it to him and then ran into the woods. Bolesta put the ax handle in the rear of the truck, took a machete from the tool box in the truck bed and chased Brown in to the woods. Petitioner saw Bolesta strike Brown several times in the back with the machete as Brown

fled. Bolesta solicited petitioner's help in dragging the body further into the woods and then petitioner returned to the truck. Bolesta cut branches and concealed the body. Gary German never left the vehicle or participated in the attack (R 284-287).

Petitioner told Lentz that he left Brown's truck at a motel in Ocala. He then rode back to Gainesville with German and Bolesta, stopping at a spillway to discard the machete, car keys and shirt in the river. They arrived at Bolesta's trailer later that evening and changed clothes. Petitioner said blood splattered on his clothing when Bolesta first hit Brown with the ax handle (R 288). Lentz never asked petitioner whether he received any proceeds from the robbery (R 290).

On cross-examination, Lentz recalled petitioner telling him that he went to Starke to help Bolesta sell some horses; Bolesta told him that his aunt owned the property in Alachua County and there were horses on the property, but the gate was locked when they took Dowling and Brown there. The murder occurred within a couple of miles of that location. Petitioner never said that he planned to rob or kill Carl Brown (R 295-298).

Lentz testified on redirect examination that petitioner said Bolesta had mentioned robbing Mr. Brown, but he did not know when Bolesta planned to do it (R 301). On recross examination, Lentz clarified that petitioner never stated that he agreed to join Bolesta in committing the robbery, although Bolesta said he was going to rob Brown. Petitioner knew that Bolesta had prior business dealings with Brown (R 301-302).

Following this testimony, the state rested (R 303).

Petitioner moved for a judgment of acquittal, which motion was denied (R 303-308).

Petitioner testified as the only defense witness and stated that he first met Carl Brown in February of 1984 when he and Jackie Bolesta went to Starke to sell some horses. Mr. Dowling bought two horses from Bolesta on that occasion. Petitioner had only known Bolesta for a few months; they met at a truck stop. He met Gary German through Bolesta at the truck stop. Early in May, Bolesta said he wanted to sell some horses to Brown that belonged to his aunt and uncle. Petitioner rode to Starke with German and Bolesta to find Carl Brown. They located him at Mr. Dowling's horse stable. Bolesta stopped at a convenience store and German drove Bolesta's truck to the Dowling ranch. As far as petitioner knew, the sole purpose of the trip was to sell horses; there was no discussion about any other business or about illegal activities or hurting Brown or Dowling. German told Brown that Bolesta was at the store getting coffee and wanted to know if Brown was interested in buying horses. They agreed to meet in Hawthorne at a truck stop on State Road 301 (R 318-323).

Petitioner and German returned to pick up Bolesta, and then Bolesta drove the truck to a Jiffy store in Orange Heights. They were drinking coffee when Dowling and Brown drove by in a car. The three got in Jackie's truck, passed the car and pulled over to the side of the road. Jackie told the two ranchers to follow him and they drove out River Stix Road. During this time there was no discussion about committing any crime against either Brown or Dowling. Although petitioner did not know for a fact that

Bolesta's family had property in the area, he thought they were going to see Bolesta's aunt's and uncle's horses. The gate was locked and everyone left (R 323-326).

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