IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ADAM BLAINE CHESTNUT

AUG 17 1987

Petitioner,

CLERA, SURAL COURT

vs.

CASE NO. 70,628

CA 4.2.87

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROYALL P. TERRY, JR. ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0290

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The concept of "abnormal mental condition" is too illdefined to warrant the introduction of same into Florida law as a
defense in specific intent crimes, by judicial fiat. Judicial
activism should be eschewed and the question certified falls more
within the province of the legislature.

Moreover, petitioner's theory of defense was that coercion and duress on the part of Jackie Bolesta was the cause of petitioner's involvment in the crime, as borne out by the record. Thus, the trial court, for sound reasons, disallowed the proffered testimony of the mental health experts. It was only at the beginning of the appellate stages of the matter <u>sub judice</u> that the concept of diminished capacity to form the essential specific intent became an issue, and took the form of an attempt to inject the concept of "diminished responsibility, into Florida The trial court was never actually given the opportunity to address any question of lack of specific intent. Petitioner's position at trial was that he had been kicked in the head by a bull 12 years earlier which allegedly rendered him less intelligent than he had been, easily led and susceptible to pressures exerted by the infamous Jackie Bolesta. The proffered testimony of the mental experts had nothing to do with ability to form specific intent. This is a new issue and an inappropriate one for this court to consider, given the facts and legal posturings of petitioner heretofor.

ARGUMENT

CERTIFIED QUESTION

IS EVIDENCE OF AN ABNORMAL MENTAL CONDITION NOT CONSTITUTING LEGAL INSANITY ADMISSIBLE FOR THE PURPOSE OF PROVING EITHER THAT THE ACCUSED COULD NOT OR DID NOT ENTERTAIN THE SPECIFIC INTENT OR STATE OF MIND ESSENTIAL TO PROOF OF THE OFFENSE, IN ORDER TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE CRIME CHARGED, OR LESSER DEGREE THEREOF, WAS IN FACT COMMITTED?

Florida does not follow the doctrine of diminished responsibility in cases where the defendant does not plead "not guilty by reason of insanity".

In 1976 the Fourth District had to decide whether the proffered testimony of a psychologist who would have testified, in furtherance of the defendant's plea of entrapment, that the defendant was dependent on others and lacked will power. In that case the defendant had not pled insanity as a defense. The psychologist's testimony was excluded and the court found no reversible error.

It is our opinion that to allow expert testimony as to mental state in the absence of an insanity plea would confuse and create immaterial issues. If permitted, such experts could explain and justify criminal conduct. As lay people we could guess that almost everyone who commits crimes against society must have some psychiatric or psychological problem. However, the test continues to be legal insanity as defined and not otherwise and the court and jury should not be subjected to testimony as to mental

flaws and justifications where the defendant knew the difference between right and wrong at the time of the crime.

Tremaine v. State, 336 So.2d 705 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976), at 707, 708. See also Ezzell v. State, 88 So.2d 280 (Fla. 1956), and Everett v. State, 97 So.2d 241 (Fla. 1957).

In Florida, the test of mental capacity is the ability to distinguish between right and wrong, rather than the person's intelligence or general mental capacity. Young v. State, 140 So.2d 97 See also Camp v. State, (Fla. 1962). 149 So.2d 367 (Fla. 2d DCA 1963). Florida courts have rejected the concept of diminished responsibility as a defense to criminal conduct, unless framed within the defense of insanity. Tremaine v. State, supra. Here appellant did not choose to tender a defense of insanity and made no showing of being incapable of distinguishing right from wrong. retardation or diminished mental capacity does not insulate a defendant from criminal responsibility, the trial court did not err in striking the asserted defense. For courts to allow the proffered defense might open the door to evasion of criminal responsibility by those who know right from The trial court therefore correctly rejected the proffered defense and appellant's request to appoint an expert psychologist to support that defense.

Bradshaw v. State, 353 So.2d 188, 190 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977).

As petitioner points out, this court in <u>Gurganus v. State</u>, 451 So.2d 817 (Fla. 1984) employed some language that petitioner has embraced for the purpose of urging upon this court the

proposition that diminished capacity is a doctrine whose time has come in Florida.

However, as Judge Ervin pointed out in his concurring/dissenting opinion below, Chestnut v. State, 505 So.2d 1352, 1356 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), this court has not explicitly overruled its prior opinions precluding the admissiblity of evidence not meeting the test of legal insanity as a defense to a specific intent crime. Thus, to answer the certified question in the affirmative would represent a radical departure in Florida law.

Perhaps the day will come when the legislature of this state will see fit to lessen a citizen's responsibility for a specific intent crime occasioned by aberrant behavior resulting in a temporary or permanent diminution of ability to form specific intent. Even temporary insanity has been recognized by courts throughout the nation as bearing upon a question of responsibility for crimes because an insane person, however fleeting the condition might be, is presumed incapable of recognizing the difference "right" and "wrong". An "abnormal mental condition" might be generated by anything from prenatal injury to the psychological consequences of divorce. further submits that all crime is psycho-pathological in origin and what petitioner is suggesting offers the potential of creating an almost unlimited reservoir of legally acceptable reasons why a defendant did not specifically intend to do what he did do.

But historically, subnormal mentality was not recognized as a defense to crime in either the courts of England or the American states. The mental tests for criminal responsibility evolved in England first with the infant or "wild beast" test, Rex v. Arnold, (1724) 16 How.St.Tr.(Eng.) 695. Then came Lord Hale's Rule which adopted the test of the capacity and understanding of a normal child of 14 years. 1 Hale, P.C. 30. Finally, the law of England was settled in 1843 when, following the case of M'Naghten, one Car. & K. 130, note, 10 Clark & F. 200, 8 Eng. Reprint, 718, that test contemplating that the party accused was laboring under such a defect of reason from disease of the mind as not to know the nature and quality of the act he was doing, or, if he did know it, he did not know he was doing what was wrong. See discussion at 44 A.L.R. 584 et. seq.

The right and wrong test gained acceptance in the United States. Basically, it holds that a weak or even disordered mind is not excused from the consequences of crime so long as at the time of the act the person knew the nature and quality of the act he was doing and that he knew that it was wrong. People v. Farmer, 194 N.Y. 251, 87 N.E. 457 (1909) A number of states came to adopt this interpretation of the M'Naghten Rule. See compendium of early cases at 44 A.L.R. 586. Respondent concedes that a number of states have modified their positions to the effect that interpretation of mental abnormality is not

restricted to the "all-or-nothing' doctrine of insanity as a complete defense. To date, this state has not joined that circle.

Respondent submits that even petitioner would agree that this court is not here concerned with mental abnormality (short of insanity) as a <u>mitigating</u> factor at time of sentencing.

Some states now take the position that evidence of diminished responsibility is admissible for the purpose of determining what crime was committed, e.g., second degree murder as opposed to first degree murder, specific intent being an essential element of the latter.

All things considered, the instant case is <u>not</u> one compatible with the suggestion of the <u>Gurganus</u> court, i.e.— "any condition relating to the accused's ability to form a specific intent, is relevant." <u>Gurganus v. State</u>, <u>supra</u> at 822-823. Even before petitioner obtained the services of an attorney he insisted (when questioned by detective Lentz) that it was Jackie Bolesta who clubbed the victim with the ax handle and that his (Chestnut's) only participation in the affair was helping to drag the body into the woods and driving the victim's truck to Ocala where it was abandoned.

During his opening statement counsel for the defendant, Adam Chestnut, told the jury outright:

"The question that you're going to have to be deciding over the next several days is whether or not Adam Chestnut is the one who was involved in this dastardly deed, or whether or not there is another individual who is, in fact, the one responsible, and whether or not Jackie Bolesta is the one responsible, and Adam Chestnut essentially the victim, just like Carl Brown and just like Gary German. That is going to be a major issue in the case." (T 168).

* * *

"The major issue in this case, or one of the major issues in this case I want you to have an idea of, is whether or not Adam Chestnut is the one responsible for striking that blow, because one of the other things I suspect that you're going to have in this case is an opportunity to listen to Adam Chestnut. I think Adam Chestnut is going to get on the stand and under oath tell you that he is not the one who struck Carl Brown at all." (Emphasis added) (T 171).

During rebuttal testimony Detective Lentz, the investigating officer, related for the jury Adam Chestnut's account of the victim Mr. Brown being struck by Bolesta with a fiberglass ax handle. (T 286-287). Adam Chestnut took the stand in his own defense and testified articulately as to his version of the events. His memory was flawless and his version of the events very detailed. (T 317-356).

Then, on final argument defense counsel argued that:

"The main thing I think that Adam showed you when he testified is that he's not real bright, he doesn't handle crisis situations real well, he gets frustrated, he gets confused." (T 397).

* * *

"Back in August of 84 that man, with his intellectual capacity, said, 'no, sir, that's not what I did. I didn't hit the man at all, I didn't know he was going to be robbed, I didn't know he was going to be murdered.'" (T 399).

Now, before this court petitioner claims deprivation of constitutional rights because he was prohibited from presenting evidence for the jury to the effect that maybe he <u>did</u> hit Mr. Brown with the ax handle but Jackie made him do it. He was to weak-minded to realize that he was participating in a robbery even though Bolesta had told him several days before that he was going to rob Brown. (T 344).

Robbery is a specific intent crime so now petitioner changes his position to the effect that perhaps he was only guilty of second degree murder or maybe only of aggravated battery since it was Bolesta's machete attack that killed the victim. Respondent had it both ways at trial in that his attorney was permitted to argue (1) that Adam Chestnut was too dull-witted to resist Bolesta's suggestions and (2) it wasn't Chestnut but Bolesta that hit the victim with the ax handle.

The case at bar is not comparable or analogous to <u>Pope v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 458 So.2d 327 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). In <u>Pope</u> the defense was premised simply on a general plea of not guilty and the incomplete defense of voluntary intoxication. The "unknown intruder" defense was never fully developed during the trial.

Instead, defense counsel relied primarily on the presumption of innocence, referring to the events surrounding the stabbing as being "a mystery", and the state's case being just a lot of facts thrown together." Id. at 329.

Therefore, this court logically found a plea of not quilty should not preclude the defense of voluntary intoxication anymore than it precludes a defense of entrapment. But the case at bar was handled far differently. Defense counsel announced in his opening statement that it was not Chestnut but Bolesta who clubbed the victim with the ax handle. Petitioner took the stand and testified accordingly and then during summation for the jury counsel reiterated that it was the defenses position that Bolesta, not Chestnut was the actor with respect to the blow to the victim's head with the ax handle. Thus, petitioner did not rely upon a general plea of not guilty. Not only was the defense one of non-involvement but counsel was permitted to argue that it was the defendant's low intelligence that caused him to participate in disposal of the victim's body and truck. casual reading of petitioner's testimony both on direct and cross-examination must have given the jury great pause as to the

proposition that one who could testify so articulately and remember so much detail could have been a plaything in the hands of someone like Bolesta. There was no evidence introduced to the effect that petitioner was in any way Bolesta's economic dependent. In any case, this court is faced with the dilemma of being asked to excuse, to a degree, petitioner's participation in felony murder based upon a record repleat with denials that petitioner was even involved beyond his mere presence and assistance in disposing of the victim's body and truck. Again, this is not a proper case for either consideration or application of the diminished capacity doctrine.

The case <u>sub judice</u> involved more than just a plea of not guilty. From the moment of petitioner's arrest until final argument the defense of "Jackie did it" was hammered into the jury. That was Chestnut's defense. After the state's pretrial motion in limine was granted prohibiting petitioner from calling to the stand several professional mental health practitioners to testify that Adam was to dull-witted to <u>not</u> be influenced by Bolesta, did counsel for the defense then suborn perjury by putting his client on the stand to deny committing any crime at all? Petitioner even claimed that his participation in concealing the victim's body and disposing of his truck was the result of duress and coercion-<u>after</u> the murder had been committed. If it was Bolesta that swung the ax handle then the

proffered testimony was irrelevant even <u>if</u> the law of this state recognized the diminished responsibility defense.

Notwithstanding his inconsistent positions at trial and later on appeal petitioner's position is clear. He wanted to present evidence that he was too manipulated by Bolesta to avoid participation in a robbery or too stupid to know that a robbery was occurring and thus escape responsibility for first degree murder or escape responsibility altogether.

Petitioner appears to argue that the granting of the state's motion in limine required him to change his trial strategy where his only chance of acquittal then was to deny outright that he struck Mr. Brown with the ax handle <u>because</u> the court prohibited his presenting evidence that he was incapable of forming specific intent. This is utter nonsense. Even <u>before</u> trial petitioner never took this approach. In his motion of October 30, 1985 petitioner pled, <u>inter alia</u>:

"The defendant further contends that the defense of <u>duress</u> is applicable to the lesser included offenses incorporated in the charge of murder and the defendant, Adam Blaine Chestnut, will not waive his rights to have all lesser included offenses offered to the jury." Paragraph five, (R 86). (Emphasis added).

On October 12, 1985 Judge Mickle made a specific finding with respect to the mental health experts Harry Crop, a psychologist and Edward Valenstein, a neurologist or neuro-

surgeon. The judge wrote "Basically, they would testify as experts as to the mental status as it relates to the defense of duress". Even Judge Ervin, who wrote a very scholarly dissent in the First District said:

In that the evidence of any danger immediately preceding the crime is not apparent from the record, I would affirm the lower court's ruling excluding appellant's proffered evidence as it relates to the defense of duress.

Chestnut v. State, supra at 1354.

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